STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Jan 13 2021
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHNATHAN LAMAR HILLARY,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001048

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Where the police asked appellant if he thought a jury would “hesitate to stick a needle in his arm” for shooting a retired police officer, threatened him with the death penalty, and promised him help, including not hanging him “out to fucking dry,” did the trial court err in admitting appellant’s recorded interrogation because the police’s threats and promises coerced appellant into giving an involuntary statement?

2.

Did the trial court err, under Rule 404, SCRE, in admitting evidence of a robbery allegedly involving appellant that occurred over a month after the shooting in this case, in another county, and under different circumstances?

3.

Alternatively, whether appellant’s conviction for kidnapping should be vacated because he was also sentenced for murder, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Horry County grand jury indicted appellant Johnathan Lamar Hillary for murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, and a weapons charge and on June 10, 2019, he was tried before the Honorable William A. McKinnon and a jury. R. 1. Nancy Livesay and Jonathan Miles represented the State. R. 1. R. Scott Joye represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 758, l. 14 – 759, l. 16. Judge McKinnon sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder and concurrent sentences on the other charges. R. 769, l. 17 – 770, l. 17. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The first two issues concerning the admission of evidence are governed by the abuse of discretion standard. “An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 366, 652 S.E.2d 438, 442 (Ct. App. 2007). The third issue should be reviewed *de novo* because it presents a question of law.

ARGUMENTS

1.

Where the police asked appellant if he thought a jury would “hesitate to stick a needle in his arm” for shooting a retired police officer, threatened him with the death penalty, and promised him help, including not hanging him “out to fucking dry,” the trial court erred in admitting appellant’s recorded interrogation because the police’s threats and promises coerced appellant into giving an involuntary statement.

Introduction

“[A] confession, in order to be admissible, must be free and voluntary; that is, must not be extracted by any sort of threats or violence, nor obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, nor by the exertion of any improper influence.” Bram v. United States, 168 U.S. 532, 542–43, 18 S. Ct. 183, 187, 42 L. Ed. 568 (1897). Despite this longstanding principle of Fifth Amendment jurisprudence, the police in this case twice threatened appellant Johnathan Lamar Hillary with the death penalty while simultaneously promising to help him. State’s Ex. 2, R. 774; State’s Ex. 3. Before the police made these threats, appellant denied knowing the decedent in this case, Timothy Buckley. State’s Ex. 2, R. 774; State’s Ex. 3. Shortly after hearing that a South Carolina jury would not “hesitate to put a needle in his arm,” Hillary asked the police if they could help him. State’s Ex. 2, R. 774; State’s Ex. 3.

The police suggested a possible homosexual encounter between Hillary and Buckley. State’s Ex. 2, R. 774; State’s Ex. 3. Hillary then gave the police a story about homosexual advances and threats with a pistol made by Buckley which culminated in Hillary having to defend himself. State’s Ex. 2, R. 774; State’s Ex. 3. At the Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing, Hillary testified that he made this story up because he was afraid and he thought

it was what the police wanted to hear. R. 74, l. 11 – 75, l. 7. The trial court erred in admitting appellant’s involuntary statement.

Timothy Buckley Disappears

After retiring as a New York police officer, Timothy Buckley moved his family to Myrtle Beach. R. 176, l. 6 – 177, l. 13. R. 185, l. 24 – 25. Buckley drove a black Ford F-150 pickup truck. R. 187, l. 25 – 24. He worked as a bell valet at a hotel. R. 188, l. 6 – 8. In addition to his house, Buckley kept a camper at Springmaid Pier as “a getaway place.” R. 203, l. 3 – 22.

On September 29, 2016, Buckley did not pick up his daughter from cheerleading practice. R. 188, l. 19 – 189, l. 15. R. 177, l. 14 – 17. His oldest daughter tried to call him, but Buckley did not answer, which was unusual. R. 189, l. 8 – 190, l. 4. Buckley’s daughter drove to the camper, but there was “no sign of him.” R. 189, l. 17 – 190, l. 4. She called the hotel where Buckley worked and learned he did not show up for his shift. R. 190, l. 5 – 13. She then called the police. R. 190, l. 5 – 13.

Buckley’s family continued to search for him after calling the police. R. 190, l. 16 – 191, l. 6. Two friends of Buckley’s from New York drove to Myrtle Beach to assist in the search. R. 206, l. 10 – 207, l. 16. By the time the friends arrived, a hurricane was approaching and they only had a single afternoon to search. R. 208, l. 2 – 209, l. 11. Despite their abbreviated search window, the two friends found Buckley’s truck in downtown Myrtle Beach. R. 207, l. 2 – 210, l. 13. After calling the police, the friends looked inside the truck and saw a large amount of blood, which turned out to be Buckley’s, inside the truck only on the passenger’s side. R. 215, l. 10 – 216, l. 2. R. 257, l. 19 – 20. The crime scene investigator found no bullet holes in the truck. R. 237, l. 17 – 18. Mud was on the truck’s side. R. 238, l. 2 – 6.

The truck was found on October 5, 2016. R. 288, l. 4 – 5. Over a month later, students at a motorsports academy found Buckley’s body. R. 265, l. 14 - 268, l. 16. The body was found in a wooded area at the end of a dirt road off Highway 501. R. 342, l. 9 – 345, l. 6. The area was on the Conway side of the intracoastal waterway near an outlet mall on Highway 501. R. 265, l. 17 – 267, l. 10. The autopsy revealed Buckley died from a gunshot wound to the back of the head. R. 565, l. 16 – 22. The police also found a bullet hole in the back armpit area of a t-shirt found with Buckley’s body. R. 286, l. 10 – 20. R. 641, l. 5 – 8. Despite the t-shirt’s deteriorated condition, gunshot residue was found at the hole. R. 638, l. 7 – 643, l. 13.

The Investigation Leads Police to Bernithia Young and Cell Phone Records

Using a dystopian array of technological surveillance, the police were able to track the movements of Buckley’s truck and a suspect. Special cameras called License Plate Readers (LPRs) “are at the entry points to the city” of Myrtle Beach. R. 339, l. 11 – 340, l. 11. The LPR cameras are “up high” and linked to a separate computer system that reads the characters on all license plates and logs them. R. 311, l. 10 – 312, l. 11. R. 339, l. 15 – 340, l. 11. The computer also keeps a photo of the license tag so comparisons can be made later if needed. R. 311, l. 10 - 312, l. 3. The officer who testified said that additional tag readers were located on Highway 501, “throughout the state,” and that SLED maintains an “LPR database.” R. 341, l. 13 – 17.

The LPR system told police that Buckley’s truck entered the city at 5:18AM on September 29, 2016, on Highway 501. R. 309, l. 21 – 310, l. 9. The police then used the city’s vast array of surveillance cameras to find and track the truck. R. 311, l. 3 – 325, l. 13. When asked by the solicitor if Myrtle Beach “has video cameras everywhere,” the officer responded, “Practically, yes.” R. 311, l. 7 – 9.

The cameras showed Buckley's truck enter the city and pull into the parking lot of a motel. R. 320, l. 11 – 20. The truck did not park at the motel, and left followed by a white sedan to the place where Buckley's truck was found by his friends. R. 320, l. 11 – 322, l. 11. A black male then "emerges" and gets into the white sedan. R. 322, l. 12 – 324, l. 19. The cameras showed the white sedan travel to the 1000 block of Ocean Boulevard where several motels were located. R. 324, l. 20 – 326, l. 20. The surveillance system was not sufficiently comprehensive to locate Buckley in his truck late on September 28 or in the early morning hours of September 29. R. 332, l. 19 – 22. R. 337, l. 14 – 339, l. 17.

A woman named Bernithia Young stayed at the Ocean Plaza Hotel on the night of September 28, departing on September 29. R. 346, l. 5 – 14. She listed a white Chevrolet Impala as her car on the registration form. R. 346, l. 5 – 14. Young stayed at various hotels managed by the same group as the owners of the Ocean Plaza during September. R. 347, l. 22 – 353, l. 22. On the night Buckley disappeared, Young listed Fernando Cannon as her guest at the Ocean Plaza. R. 349, l. 7 – 11. Appellant Hillary was listed as her guest nearly two weeks earlier, on September 13. R. 348, ll. 16 – 22. The police introduced camera footage from the hotels showing a black male in the Ocean Plaza parking garage at 6:20AM on September 29. R. 354, l. 9 – 355, l. 15. They also introduced a short video taken from Young's phone that the hotel manager verified was taken inside one of their hotels that showed Young and a black male.¹ R. 356, l. 4 – 358, l. 8.

The police learned that Young and Hillary worked as motel housekeepers for a staffing agency in Myrtle Beach during the month of September 2016. R. 368, l. 21 – 384. They told the staffing agency they had just moved from Georgia and were looking for work. R. 371, l.

¹ Young did not testify at appellant's trial.

2 – 9. Hillary gave an address of a hotel on Highway 501 that was in the vicinity where Buckley’s body was found. R. 371, l. 18 – 373, l. 15. The police also obtained Georgia cell phone numbers that Young and Hillary gave the staffing agency. R. 380, l. 20 – 381, l. 6.

Atlanta police went to a townhouse where they found Young, Hillary, and another man. R. 583, l. 2 – 584, l. 23. In the apartment, the police found a 9mm semiautomatic handgun and a revolver that belonged to Buckley. R. 585, l. 1 – 6. R. 587, l. 2 – 9. R. 589, l. 4 – 22. The police also found credit cards and IDs belonging to other people, including a man named Bocar Bah. R. 594, l. 21 – 595, l. 11. As will be explained in more detail in Issue 2 of this brief, the State called Bocar Bah to testify that he was the victim of a robbery allegedly perpetrated by Young and Hillary in November 2016 in Summerville. R. 655, l. 4 – 658, l. 19.

The Myrtle Beach police went to Atlanta and spoke to Young. R. 415, l. 6 – 11. They obtained Young’s cell phone. R. 415, l. 9 – 14. Phone records showed multiple communications between Young and Hillary during the early morning hours of September 28-29. R. 428, l. 14 – 433, l. 19. Hillary called Young, then the communications switched to text messages, and then back to phone calls. R. 433, l. 12 – 19. The State used a cell phone records analyst to compare the phone records of Buckley, Young, and Hillary and cell phone towers to conclude that their cell phones were in the same vicinity in Myrtle Beach on September 29 and that Buckley and Hillary’s phones moved in a similar pattern to the area where Buckley’s body was found that morning. State’s Ex. 187.

The Interrogation of Hillary in Atlanta

Horry County police officers Gregory Lent and David Dudley traveled to Atlanta to interrogate Hillary. R. 22, l. 24 – 23, l. 13. The audio, but not the video, of the interrogation was recorded. State's Ex. 2. A transcript of the interrogation was prepared and used by the parties and the trial judge during the Denno hearing. R. 774; State's Ex. 3. While the transcript is accurate, it does not convey the emotion or the long pauses by Hillary that are present on the audio. State's Ex. 2, R. 744; State's Ex. 3.

Hillary was shackled throughout the interrogation. R. 23, l. 21 – 25, l. 4. The police read Hillary his rights. State's Ex. 2, R. 744; State's Ex. 3. They asked him what he knew about somebody getting killed and Hillary said he did not know anything. State's Ex. 2, R. 777; State's Exhibit 3. The police told Hillary that Young was scared and knew "enough to put you in a corner." State's Ex. 2, R.779; State's Ex. 3.

Hillary then told police that he had been in a truck twice in Myrtle Beach. State's Ex. 2, R. 780 – 789; State's Ex. 3. Hillary said the first time was when a white male who was a "meth head" pulled up to him looking for drugs. State's Ex. 2, R. 780 – 789; State's Ex. 3. The meth head had a beard and wild hair and smelled like alcohol. State's Ex. 2, R. 780 – 789; State's Ex. 3. Hillary gave him some bath salts, tricking him into thinking they were drugs in exchange for borrowing his truck. State's Ex. 2, R. 780 – 789; State's Ex. 3. When the meth head started calling Hillary repeatedly, he abandoned the black "bossman truck" and called Young to come pick him up. State's Ex. 2, R. 780 – 789; State's Ex. 3. The other time was when a white man named John, in a white truck, spoke to Hillary on the boulevard and took him to a bar and bought him something to eat. State's Ex. 2, R. 786; State's Ex. 3.

The police then told Hillary there were cameras everywhere in Myrtle Beach and there were “lots of things that we figured out.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 793; State’s Ex. 3. They told him the best thing for him was not to play games and to be honest because things were about to get “a lot more serious for you.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 793 – 794; State’s Ex. 3. They showed Hillary a picture of Buckley, who was bald, and Hillary said Buckley was not the meth head he saw in the black truck. State’s Ex. 2, R. 794 – 795; State’s Ex. 3.

Officer Lent began using profanity, telling him, “We’re not just here ‘cause we pulled your name out of a fucking hat. And we’re not just here on a fucking whim” State’s Ex. 2, R. 796; State’s Ex. 3. They repeatedly responded to Hillary’s answers by saying “Bullshit.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 796 – 800; State’s Ex. 3. Officer Lent said Young’s “ass is getting shipped back to South Carolina, too. Ok. She’s being charged with an accessory to murder. . . . So she’s looking at 20-30 years with you. So she’s not going to cover up your bullshit.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 797; State’s Ex. 3. The police lied and said they had Hillary’s “DNA all over the truck.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 797; State’s Ex. 3. When Hillary said he knew nothing about a murder, Officer Lent said, “That’s a fucking lie.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 798; State’s Ex. 3.

Hillary kept telling the police about the meth head, saying, “I gave the man the dummy dope and he gave me the truck and I rolled around.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 800; State’s Ex. 3. At this point, Officer Lent responded by threatening Hillary with the death penalty for the first time, saying, “Let him go back to South Carolina and he can tell it to a jury when they give him the death penalty.” State’s Ex. 2 (approx 36:38), R. 800; State’s Ex. 3.

Hillary continued to deny any involvement. State’s Ex. 2, R. 800-802; State’s Ex. 3. The police continued to respond, “Bullshit.” State’s Ex. 2, R. 800 – 802; State’s Ex. 3. Hillary said, “I just drove around,” and Officer Lent said, “It’s bullshit. You’re not helping yourself. If you

want to sit in here, this is fine. You can tell us this and when we stand up in court and we testify and we say, you know what, he didn't give two shits. He just fucking lied in there." State's Ex. 2, R. 802; State's Ex. 3. He then suggested to Hillary, "You'd have a better shot coming in here and saying you know what. Someone tried to rob me. Someone tried hurting me and I had to do what I had to do to defend myself. But you're coming in here and honestly you're acting like an asshole." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 38:42), R. 802; State's Ex. 3.

The police kept accusing Hillary of lying. State's Ex. 2, R. 802 – 804; State's Ex. 3. Officer Dudley told Hillary, "We, we can't help you if we don't hear your side of the story, John." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 41:37), R. 802; State's Ex. 3. Officer Lent then told Hillary that Buckley "was a police officer. For 30 fucking years, John." State's Ex. 2, R. 805; State's Ex. 3. Hillary says, dejectedly, "He was a cop." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 43:00), R. 805; State's Ex. 3. Officer Lent continues in a raised voice, "He was a cop. So guess what, not only are you looking at a murder rap. Now you're looking at a murder rap of a cop. How does that feel buddy? Because things change then, don't they?" State's Ex. 2 (approx. 40:07), R. 805; State's Ex. 3.

With a raised voice and using expletives, Officer Lent tells Hillary he has phone records and cameras showing Hillary everywhere. State's Ex. 2, R. 805 – 806; State's Ex. 3. He then tells Hillary about Buckley's gun, saying, "His fucking gun is in your shit." State's Ex. 2, R. 806; State's Ex. 3. Hillary says he does not know where Lent found the gun. State's Ex. 2, R. 806; State's Ex. 3. Officer Lent tells Hillary, "I'm asking you to provide some story that might just save your ass." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 45:20), R. 807; State's Ex. 3.

Then, for the second time, the police threaten Hillary with the death penalty. State's Ex. 2, R. 807; State's Ex. 3. Officer Dudley says, "Let's put it like this. When a jury sees you driving around with the truck for hours with blood on the inside with no remorse for what you

did, you think they're going to hesitate to put a needle in your arm." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 43:30), R. 807; State's Ex. 3. Officer Lent says "You better start talking. Go ahead, I don't care. Roll around in your head. Come up with a, come up with a lie." State's Ex. 2, R. 807; State's Ex. 3.

Officer Lent then suggests a story for Hillary. State's Ex. 2, R. 807 – 808; State's Ex. 3. He says maybe Buckley was "looking to buy some dope. Maybe he rode up on you. Maybe he thought you were working the street. Maybe he rolled up on you looking for sex." State's Ex. 2, R. 807; State's Ex. 3. Officer Lent suggests that Buckley may have made a racist comment, or that maybe a gun went off accidentally. State's Ex. 2, R. 807 – 808; State's Ex. 3.

Hillary asks twice then if the police are "really going to try to help me." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 49:47), R. 808; State's Ex. 3. After Officer Lent tells Hillary that Buckley's family is probably burying his remains in a small cardboard box, Officer Dudley says, "You tell us the truth and we'll help you. We ain't going to hang you out to fucking dry." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 50:16), R. 808; State's Ex. 3. An audible sigh is heard. State's Ex. 2 (approx. 50:22). There is a long pause and a sniffle can be heard. State's Ex. 2 (approx. 50:34). Hillary somberly says that he is not a bad person. State's Ex. 2, R. 808; State's Ex. 3. A chair moves and there is another pause. State's Ex. 2 (approx. 51:08), R. 808 – 809; State's Ex. 3.

Hillary then, in a continued somber tone, tells the police a "scenario" in the abstract about getting a ride from a man who makes unwanted sexual advances. State's Ex. 2 (approx. 51:18), R. 809; State's Ex. 3. The man pulls up into a dark area and a fight occurs after another unwanted sexual advance. State's Ex. 2, R. 809; State's Ex. 3. The man pulls a pistol, there's a fight, the pistol is wrenched from the man's hands and after trying to escape, the pistol is used in

self-defense. State's Ex. 2, R. 808; State's Ex. 3. Hillary then repeatedly says he had to defend himself, he panicked. State's Ex. 2, R. 808 – 810; State's Ex. 3.

Hillary stops at one point and says, "I need y'all help." State's Ex. 2, R. 814; State's Ex. 3. He says, "I didn't even know he was an officer." State's Ex. 2, R. 814; State's Ex. 3. After finishing the story and a long pause, Hillary asks, "I mean, how are y'all going to be able to help me?" State's Ex. 2 (approx. 1:07:40), R. 819; State's Ex. 3. After elaborating further, Hillary asks, "you think I have a chance for real?" and "You think them folk is going to understand this." State's Ex. 2 (approx. 1:26:45), R. 828; State's Ex. 3.

The Denno Hearing and the Trial Judge's Ruling

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