STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 02 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Horry County  
The Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHNATHAN LAMAR HILLARY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001048  
\_\_\_\_\_

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON

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

Cell phone records evidence supports that the victim Buckley first contacted Bernithia at approximately 3 a.m. on September 29, 2016. (R. 516-17). Both Bernithia's and Hillary's cell phone tower information shows, after the victim called Bernithia's phone, Bernithia and Hillary were in the area of the victim's camper. (R. 517-18). The jury could infer from this evidence that the victim believed he was going to meet Bernithia but did not know Hillary would be coming. When they arrived at the campground, Hillary robbed the victim at gunpoint, as he did Bah, with

---

<sup>4</sup> 405 S.C. 317, 748 S.E.2d 194 (2013). *Cope* did address later crimes as opposed to prior crimes, but the distinction was in the character of the crimes – particularly, the distinctions between the child victim as compared to adult victims in other crimes; and, varied differences in completion of the crime, method of assault and entry. *See Id.* at 338, 748 S.E.2d at 205. When the crimes are in a distinctive pattern and closely connected, as they are here, Rule 404 allows admission. There is no limitation or qualification on admissibility based upon some distinction between prior as opposed to subsequent crimes. See Rule 404(b), SCRE.

a semi-automatic 9mm pistol, and shot the victim at gunpoint when the victim attempted to escape the armed robbery. The evidence largely mirrors the events with Bah – Timothy Buckley was set up by Bernithia and robbed by Hillary just as Bah was. The only difference being Timothy Buckley resisted and attempted to escape his truck, but Bah complied with the armed robbery. Both men's wallet and cell phones were stolen by Hillary. Both Buckley's stolen revolver and Bah's stolen credit cards were found in Hillary and Bernithia's townhome in Atlanta. (R. 579, 587, 589-90, 594-98; 612).

Because Hillary had murdered Buckley, Hillary had to dispose of Buckley's body and truck. Cell phone records show Hillary then drove the victim Buckley's body to a location near where Hillary had stayed earlier in September, and dumped the body in a secluded area where it would not be found for weeks until it was severely decomposed. (R. 517-534, 371-73, 265-68). During the drive to get rid of the body, Hillary stayed in constant contact with Bernithia Young by cell phone either calling or texting her. He then stayed in constant contact with her by cell phone as he returned to the City of Myrtle Beach in the victim's stolen truck. (See State's 187). He then met up with her at her motel and she followed him to the location where he dumped the victim's truck, staying in constant contact by phone. She waited nearby at an intersection as he dumped the truck in an apartment complex parking lot, where it would not be found for several days, and she picked him up in her white sedan, Hillary getting in the passenger side as he did in Summerville after robbing Bah, and the two, Bernithia and Hillary left the scene together in the same white Chevrolet Impala they left the crime scene in Summerville in, and they returned to the Ocean Plaza Hotel where they both were staying. (R. 324-26). She had registered Hillary under a false name ("Fernando Cannon") for that night, indicating they had pre-planned some criminal behavior. (R. 349, 358-59).

This evidence falls squarely within the requirement of having a logical connection and a close similarity and it was not error to admit it as a common scheme or plan.

Evidence of other crimes is competent to prove the specific crime charged when it tends to establish (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) identity; (4) the absence of mistake or accident; or (5) common scheme or plan. Rule 404(b), SCRE; *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 416-17; 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923). Evidence of a bad act, if relevant, is admissible regardless if the act in question occurred prior or subsequent to the case for which a defendant is being tried. *State v. Atkins*, 309 S.C. 542, 424 S.E.2d 554 (Ct. App. 1992).

To be admissible, a prior or subsequent bad act need only be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Pierce*, 326 S.C. 176, 485 S.E.2d 913 (1997). The testimony of a witness, which is corroborated in some measure, will usually satisfy the clear and convincing requirement. *State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 496 S.E.2d 424 (Ct App. 1998); *State v. Aiken*, 322 S.C. 177, 470 S.E.2d 404 (Ct. App. 1996). Where a witness testimony is the sole evidence of a bad act, the determination of the witness's credibility must be left to the trial judge who saw and heard the witness and is therefore in a better position to evaluate the witness's veracity. *State v. Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 671 S.E.2d 107 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. Tutton*, 354 S.C. 319, 580 S.E.2d 186 (Ct. App. 2003). Should the trial judge determine the witness testimony clearly and convincingly establishes that the bad act occurred, an appellate court is bound by the trial judge's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* An appellate court will not conduct a *de novo* review of a trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of bad act evidence on the issue of whether the evidence rises to the level of clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). A trial judge's ruling admitting bad act evidence will be upheld on appeal if it is supported by any evidence. *State v. Cheeseboro*,

346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001); *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508 (Ct. App. 2004).

Here the evidence of the subsequent bad act was clear and convincing. Mr. Bah testified under oath to planning a sexual encounter with Bernithia Young by phone. He testified they met up and she drove him to a hotel in her car while she was texting someone. Once there, appellant Hillary approached the car from around the corner of the hotel and robbed him at gun point. Phone records of Hillary and Young introduced in evidence established Bernithia Young and Hillary were working together to set up and rob Bah at the motel and then did so. Bah identified both Bernithia and Hillary from separate photographic line-ups. Finally, Mr. Bah's stolen credit cards and i.d. were found in Hillary and Bernithia's townhome in Atlanta. There was more than clear and convincing evidence of the bad act. *State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 496 S.E.2d 424 (Ct App. 1998); *State v. Aiken*, 322 S.C. 177, 470 S.E.2d 404 (Ct. App. 1996). *See also State v. Ford*, 334 S.C. 59, 512 S.E.2d 500 (1999) (testimony by victim that he was previously robbed by the defendant, which was partially corroborated by a detective, was deemed clear and convincing evidence of the prior bad act). Consequently, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Further, any error in admission of some portion of the Bah testimony was harmless. "When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result." *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). The record here would support that any error would be insubstantial. First, the evidence of items taken from Bah would be admissible because those items, along with others, were found in the Atlanta townhome where Buckley's gun was found. Second, Bah could place the 9mm gun in Hillary's hand which shows access to a gun other than the one taken from Buckley. Third, the evidence from cell phones, from video, from hotel management, and from Bernithia's cell phone all show a concerted effort to act together for the instant crime of murder, and even in the disposal of the victim's body. And fourth, the Bah evidence was limited to necessary facts to show the connection. *See State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 611, 646 S.E.2d 872, 877 (2007) ("conclude[ing] the admission of the extraneous evidence was harmless given that petitioner's guilt has been proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached"). But the Bah evidence, with its distinctive plan to lure men for purposes of robbery, not only explains the evidence obtained in the

### III.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina does not allow plain error review. Because Hillary raised no objection to his sentence for kidnapping, and because the narrow *Johnston* exception is inapplicable, this Court may not reach the unpreserved error.

#### *Standard of Review*

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits only to review errors of law which have been properly preserved, i.e., the issue has been raised to and ruled on by the trial court.” *State v. Wise*, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). An appellate court has no standard of review to apply on an unpreserved issue. *See, e.g., State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”).

#### *What Occurred Below*

At the conclusion of the trial, Hillary was found guilty of murder, kidnapping, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. The trial court sentenced Hillary to life imprisonment for murder, a concurrent sentence of thirty years for kidnapping, a concurrent sentence of thirty years for armed robbery, and five years on the weapon charge. (R. 769-70). No objection was raised to any part of the sentencing.

#### *Law / Analysis*

“[T]he plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts.” *State v. Sheppard*, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (citing *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997)). Thus, “a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.” *State v. Johnston*, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425

---

search of the townhome, it is strongly probative of intent. Given that Hillary eventually conceded to being in the truck (after he saw pictures of himself), he did not concede the malice aforethought. Again, the clear and convincing evidence specifically addressed that motive. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the evidence in these circumstances.

(1999). In *Johnston*, though, our Supreme Court recognized a narrow, extremely limited exception to the general preservation rule – an exception to allow swiftly addressing a sentencing error where “there [was] the real threat” *Johnston* “w[ould] remain incarcerated beyond the legal sentence due to the additional time it will take to pursue” post-conviction relief. *Id.*, 333 S.C. at 464, 510 S.E.2d at 425. The *Johnston* exception does not apply where there is no danger of serving time beyond the maximum imposed. In fact, the Supreme Court expressly set out in the *Johnston* opinion: “Our holding today *is not intended to disrupt our settled rules on issue preservation and PCR applications*. The facts here are *unique and demand an expedited result*.”) (emphasis added)). *Johnston*, 333 S.C. at 464 n. 3, 510 S.E.2d at 425 n.3.

In *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 611 S.E.2d 273 (Ct. App. 2005), this Court considered whether the *Johnston* exception applied to an unpreserved challenge to an already expired contempt sentence and found:

... the exceptional circumstance carefully carved out by the *Johnston* court is not present here. Appellant has already served the duration of her sentence; therefore, she does not face the threat of continuing incarceration beyond the legal sentence. *Johnston* does not control.

363 S.C. at 585–86, 611 S.E.2d at 282–83.

This Court resolved, “Appellant will be forced to seek redress through the avenue of post-conviction relief.” *Id.*, at 586, 611 S.E.2d at 283. *Passmore* properly applied the Supreme Court’s precedent as this Court is required to do. See S.C. Const., art. V. § 9 (“The decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeals as precedents.”); *Daniels v. City of Goose Creek*, 314 S.C. 494, 498, 431 S.E.2d 256, 260 (Ct.App. 2003) (“any modification or limiting” of supreme court case law “must be done by the Supreme Court.”). However, since *Passmore*, this Court has been inconsistent in adherence to the Court’s precedent to unpreserved sentencing issues.

For example, this Court unilaterally expanded the *Johnston* exception in *State v. Vick*, 384 S.C. 189, 682 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 2009), when it addressed Vick’s unpreserved challenge to his sentence for kidnapping noting: 1) the State conceded that the sentence was improper; 2) referencing “judicial economy”; and, 3) referencing that the same issue would likely be addressed in a later post-conviction relief action.<sup>6</sup> *Id.* at 203, 682 S.E.2d at 282. Critically, though, the Supreme Court precedent which binds this Court has not changed. The only exception recognized does not apply to Hillary. Hillary is presently serving a sentence of life imprisonment for murder. He will be in prison under this sentence regardless of the concurrent sentence. Moreover, the Supreme Court has not recognized any danger in merely having the sentence on record. In fact, in *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), in note 2, added right after reference to the “thirty years concurrent [sentence] for kidnapping,” our Supreme Court found the sentence simply “ineffective in light of appellant’s sentence under S.C. Code Ann. § 16–3–20 (1985). S.C. Code Ann. 16–3–910 (1985).” Ineffective is defined as “[n]ot producing an intended effect.” *The American Heritage College Dictionary* 694 (3rd ed. 2000).

Hillary’s reference to *Owens v. State*, 331 S.C. 582, 585, 503 S.E.2d 462 (1998), (FBOA, p. 21), simply does not help him. It is inapposite. First, *Owens* is a post-conviction relief appeal and there was no suggestion that the issue could not be addressed in post-conviction relief. Second,

---

<sup>6</sup> A general “judicial economy” component is not part of the *Johnston* case, and would appear particularly at odds with other Supreme Court precedent. In *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 66–67, 406 S.E.2d 315, 327 (1991) (Toal, JJ, concurring) (writing for the majority “for the purpose of expressing our abolition of the outdated doctrine of *in favorem vitae*”), the Supreme Court wrote that the “contemporaneous objection requirement enables trial judges to make reasoned decisions by appropriately developing issues by way of argument, both for or against any particular legal proposition. This, in turn, allows potential errors to be prevented or cured.” Thus, had the sentencing issue here been raised below in accordance with the contemporaneous objection rule, it would have been addressed below and corrected below. Consequently, faithful adherence to true “judicial economy” bolsters enforcement of the contemporaneous objection rule. It surely does not support its routine avoidance.

*Owens*' posture in post-conviction implicitly recognizes the value of our two-tier review system – direct appeal and post-conviction relief. Both are vital in review, and both have designated matters for scope of the remedy. It is not clear how Hillary's acknowledging that post-conviction relief is available for such issues helps him in his request to this Court to depart from our Supreme Court's precedent setting out the preservation rules to be followed.

At any rate, though, Hillary does not fall under the recognized exception established by our Supreme Court and can identify no harm in having the concurrent, ineffective sentence imposed. Thus, he is not entitled to any relief on direct appeal. If any relief will eventually be granted, the issue should be raised in post-conviction relief.<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> Hillary could not credibly argue it is somehow unfair to require him to raise his patently unpreserved sentencing issue in a subsequent post-conviction relief action. It is where all similarly unpreserved claims are normally required to go. See *Cummings v. State*, 274 S.C. 26, 28, 260 S.E.2d 187, 188 (1979) (“At trial, respondent failed to object to the imposition of the sentence and, therefore, waived the right to have that sentence reviewed on direct appeal,” further, he could only “raise such issue on Post-Conviction” through “an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel.”).

**CONCLUSION**

For the above stated reasons, this Court should affirm.